IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA Supreme Court Cause No. DA 24-0645

IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF CAROL A. HUDSON, a/k/a CAROL ANN KELLER

Deceased.

ALAN LEE JOHNSON,

Plaintiff and Counter-Defendant/Appellant

v.

DOUGLAS J. NAIL,

Defendant and Counterclaimant/Appellee

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

On appeal from the Montana Eighteenth Judicial District Court, Gallatin County Cause No. DP-19-10 & DV-412C; Honorable Judge John C. Brown

Attorneys for Plaintiff and Counter-Defendant/Appellant:

David B. Cotner Kyle C. Ryan Sherine D. Blackford COTNER RYAN BLACKFORD, PLLC 321 W. Broadway, Ste. 500

Missoula, MT 59802
Telephone: (406) 541-1111
Email: dcotner@cotnerlaw.com;

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the District Court erred in determining the parties entered into a marital relationship confirmed by mutual consent where one party told her family and friends that she never wanted to marry again and signed or filled out 33 separate documents identifying herself as single and/or unmarried?
- 2. Whether the District Court erred in determining that the parties confirmed a marital relationship by public repute where one party consistently held herself out as unmarried to her family, friends, medical providers, accountants, bankers, investment firms, life insurance providers, and the government?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises out of the Estate of Carol A. Hudson, a/k/a Carol Ann Keller initiated on January 10, 2019 in the Eighteenth Judicial District Court of Gallatin County, Cause Nos. DP-19-10C & DV-412C. Carol A. Hudson ("Carol") passed away on October 7, 2018. Douglas J. Nail ("Doug"), Carol's boyfriend, has alleged the existence of a common law marriage and, by virtue thereof, entitled to an elective share of Carol's Estate.

On April 18, 2019, Alan Johnson ("AJ"), Carol's eldest son, filed a Complaint and Demand for Trial by Jury asserting various claims against Doug, including a claim for declaratory relief that Doug was not the common law spouse of Carol. On May 17, 2019, Doug filed his Answer to Complaint & Counterclaim asserting a

single counterclaim for declaratory relief that he was the common law husband to Carol¹. On June 12, 2019, the Court entered its *Order for Consolidation*, which consolidated the probate matter and the affirmative claims asserted by AJ against Doug relating to the question of whether common law marriage existed.

A bench trial was held before Hon. John C. Brown on June 3-6, 2024 solely on the issue of whether a common law marriage existed between Carol and Doug. On October 22, 2024, Judge Brown issued his Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order (the "Order"). Appx. "1". Therein, Judge Brown found that a common law marriage had been formed between Carol and Doug on May 17, 2010, the date Doug's second dissolution was finalized. This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS RELEVANT TO THE ISSUES

After meeting years earlier, Carol and Doug reconnected in approximately 2007 and soon began dating. (Tr. Exh. 433; Tr. Trans. 1-43:22-44:11)². They were both living in the San Diego area and owned/maintained separate residences. (Tr.

¹ In his Answer, Doug initially maintained that his relationship with Carol "transitioned from one of dating and cohabitating to a marriage" in August 2006. The evidence demonstrates Carol and Doug had not even begun dating by this date.

² The trial of this matter occurred over four days, June 3-6, 2024 and because the transcripts do not have continuous pagination, citations to the record herein will be preceded with "1," "2," "3," or "4" to identify the day of trial for the Court's convenience. For instance, a citation to testimony from the third day of trial would appear as "Tr. Trans. 3-XX:XX".

Trans. 1-45:7-8). Carol owned a home in Del Mar, while Doug lived in a home in Encinitas³. *Id*.

Prior to dating Doug, Carol had been married twice before. Her first marriage was to Lee Johnson ("Lee"), who is the father of her two sons, AJ and Jeff Johnson ("Jeff"). (Tr. Trans. 2-160:2-161:7). Carol and Lee held a formal marriage ceremony. Carol took Lee's last name and wore a wedding ring. *Id*. The marriage ended in approximately 1991 after a difficult divorce. (Tr. Trans. 2-161:15-21). In the divorce, Carol received title to a convalescent center in California, which provided income to support herself⁴. (Tr. Trans. 2-169:13-14; Tr. Trans.1-156:20-157:16).

Soon after her first marriage ended, Carol began a relationship with Mike Keller, who would become her second husband. (Tr. Trans. 2-161:22-162:17). Carol and her second husband participated in a held marriage ceremony, Carol took his last name, and she wore a wedding ring. (Tr. Trans. 2-163:2-15). Carol's second marriage quickly ended after another difficult divorce. *Id*.

Doug had also been married twice before dating Carol. Doug married his first wife in 1981 and together they had two children. (Tr. Exh. 402). In Doug's first marriage, a formal marriage ceremony was held, his wife took his last name, and he

³ Doug's Encinitas home became the subject of lengthy litigation with his second wife, which relates to evidence in this case.

⁴ During her relationship with Doug, Carol received \$63,000 per month in income from the convalescent center. (Tr. Trans. 1-157:13-16).

wore a wedding ring. (Trial Tr. 1-139:3-24). In 1989, Doug went through a difficult divorce with his first wife, which involved Doug's ex-wife obtaining a "Stay-Away Order". (Tr. Exh. 402).

After several difficult years in which he was convicted on federal bribery charges, lost his job, and served a prison term, Doug married his second wife. (Trial Tr. 1-140:7-10; 1-249:7-19). Doug's second marriage was held at a courthouse, his wife took his last name, and his wife wore a wedding ring. (Trial Tr. 1-140:14-141:2). Doug separated from his second wife on January 22, 2007, but the marriage did not formally end until May 17, 2010, when the Decree of Dissolution was entered. (Tr. Exh. 403). Even after the divorce was finalized, disputes over property continued until 2018. (Tr. Exh. 409). Notably, the Court found that Doug was not credible. *Id.* (AJ024676).

Approximately two years into their relationship, Doug and Carol moved to Bozeman on October 1, 2009. (Tr. Trans. 1-48:11-19). Upon moving to Montana, Carol first rented a house at 118 Falling Star Road, located in Bridger Canyon. (Tr. Trans. 1-49:2-19). Carol eventually purchased the residence at 118 Falling Star Road with her separate assets and titled it in her name, alone. (Tr. Trans. 1-50:18-20).

Doug claims that the move to Montana marks the relationship milestone in which he and Carol decided they were married. (Tr. Trans. 1-47:17-48:15; 1-55:5-

11). However, Doug was still married to his second wife until May 17, 2010. (Tr. Exh. 403). Unlike both of their prior marriages, there was no marriage ceremony. (Tr. Trans. 2-34:22-35-9). They did not celebrate an anniversary date. *Id.* Carol did not take Doug's last name and neither wore wedding rings. *Id.*; (Tr. Trans.2-184:23-185:11). Doug claims that two bracelets he gave Carol served as a symbol of their marriage but acknowledges one of the bracelets was given while they still lived in California, which is before he claims they were married. (Tr. Trans. 1-55:19-25; 2-40:10-41:7).

During the relationship, Doug and Carol relied entirely on Carol's income. Aside from Doug's self-serving testimony, there was no evidence he made any financial contributions during the relationship. Doug was not employed at any time between 2008 to 2018. (Trial Tr. 2-9:24-10:23). Although Doug claims he received income from investments, he acknowledged he has not filed a tax return since before 2008. *Id.* Doug could not recall when he last held a bank account in his own name. (Tr. Trans. 2-44:24-45:5).

Doug took control of most aspects of Carol's financial affairs. (Tr. Trans. 1-155:7-21). Doug was identified as an "agent/signer" on one of Carol's Stockman Bank accounts. (Tr. Exh. 413). Doug used his access to Carol's money to pay the substantial monthly balances on his American Express "Black" credit card, pay for

his children's expenses, make risky investments, and lend her money to his family and friends. (Tr. Trans. 158:14-23; Tr. Exh. 435).

Doug's failure to contribute and excessive spending soon became a problem. In a December 11, 2012 email, Carol contacted her friend, Maggie Stein, a Montana attorney, to seek advice with regard to a \$200,000 loan Doug made with her money to his daughter. (Tr. Exh. 35). Carol noted her concern that she made the loan, but the payments were still going to Doug. *Id.* The email also noted other money owed by Doug:

I also have an accounting for other monies owed to me by Doug. Doug acknowledges he owes me the money but at this point nothing is in writing and if something should happen to Doug I have nothing legally to stand on so I would like to discuss how to handle this situation.

Id. One week later, Carol wrote to another friend and attorney, Shelley Patton, regarding the same issues. (Tr. Exh. 36). Carol wrote in relevant part:

To secure the money he owes Doug purchased a million dollar term life insurance policy to cover the debt until he can make some money to pay me back. Doug understands I am no longer paying for his expenses and to reduce his debt I will be taking on the Pure Barre loan only if I get the right security of which Becca will be drawing up those docs. Doug was not please (sic) with my decisions but he knows this is the only way our relationship has a chance to work. You would be proud of me.... I stood my ground....the thought of losing our friendship was enough to make me strong.

Id.

Carol eventually shared her concerns with her son, AJ. Carol disclosed that she had prepared a spreadsheet showing Doug had spent \$966,000 in credit card

charges that she paid for. (Tr. Trans. 4-103:14-22). On January 11, 2013, AJ emailed Doug to detail the specific ways Doug was financially exploiting and mistreating his mother. (Tr. Exh. 435). The email references the \$966,000 Doug spent on the credit card, as well as his use of Carol's money to fund his children's university tuitions in Germany, his son's medical school tuition, and his daughter's wedding. *Id*.

Doug continued to use his access to Carol's financial resources to exploit her throughout the relationship. Using Carol's money, Doug invested \$100,000 to purchase an interest in property in Costa Rica (Tr. Trans. 1-160:13-161:7), between \$125,00 and \$200,000 in a Mexican business venture in which Doug was involved (Tr. Trans. 1-158:14-23), and approximately \$450,000 in property located outside of Big Sky. (Tr. Trans. 1-106:4-7). Doug did not obtain any paperwork to document the Costa Rican and Mexican investments and testified those investments were total losses. (Tr. Trans. 1-229:19-23; 1-160:22-161:2). Doug had never seen the Costa Rica property and only knew that it was located somewhere outside of San Jose. (Tr. Trans. 1-161:3-7).

Conveniently, Doug refers to the Costa Rica and Mexico investments—both total losses—as "our" investments but identifies the Big Sky investment, which has appreciated significantly, as belonging to solely him. (Tr. Trans. 2-16:19-17:10). Doug has claims pending before the District Court asserting that the Big Sky

investment was given to him by Carol and, therefore, his separate asset regardless of whether a common law marriage existed. (Tr. Trans. 1-102:3-6).

Doug made certain he was involved in all aspects of Carol's financial life. During the relationship, Doug prepared all of Carol's financial statements. (Tr. Trans. 1-163:9-12). Each financial statement identifies Carol as unmarried and/or single. In Carol's July 23, 2012 Personal Financial Statement, she indicated she was unmarried and under "Spouse Name:" again noted she was unmarried. (Tr. Exh. 33). Carol signed an October 2, 2012 Personal Financial Statement for Wells Fargo identifying herself as "Unmarried", which Doug filled out in his handwriting (Tr. Exh. 34). Additionally, in the 2013, 2014, 2015, and 2016 Personal Financial Statements, Carol similarly indicated she was unmarried and under "Spouse Name" she again identified herself as unmarried. (Tr. Exhs. 410, 411, 46, and 51).

Doug also handled the preparation of Carol's taxes by organizing the necessary information and meeting with her accountant. (Trial Tr. 1-156:6-19). In Carol's 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016, and 2017 tax returns, Carol identified her filing status as "Single," as opposed to "Married Filing Jointly" or "Married Filing Separately." Each of Carol's tax returns was filed under oath. (Tr. Exhs. 440, 441, 37, 41, 44, 48, 53, and 54). In handling Carol's financial affairs, Doug stated one of the couple's goals was to minimize Carol's tax liability. (Trial Tr. 1-156:16-19). Doug acknowledged that if Carol had filed her tax returns as a married

Individual, there likely would have been a tax savings. (Trial Tr. 1-174:18-22). Doug, who has not a filed a tax return since before 2008, claims he and Carol decided to not file joint tax returns because they "didn't know what do to do" and did not file as married "to be safe". (Tr. Trans. 2-10:18-23; Tr. Trans. 1-173:23-174:5). However, as noted, Doug worked with Carol's accountant to prepare each return. (Tr. Trans. 1-108:19-109:1).

Between 2008 and 2018, Carol signed 6 separate loan applications with Stockman Bank, all of which she identified herself as unmarried. On October 27, 2010, Carol signed a Loan Application identifying her marital status as single. (Tr. Exh. 412). On December 11, 2012, Carol signed a Loan Application identifying herself as unmarried. (Tr. Exh. 416). On January 16, 2013, Carol submitted another Loan Application identifying herself as unmarried. (Tr. Exh. 417). On April 9, 2014, Carol presented another Loan Application again identifying herself as unmarried. (Tr. Exh. 418). On August 14, 2015, Carol submitted another Loan Application again identifying herself as unmarried. (Tr. Exh. 419). Carol also filled out a Request for Information for Government Monitoring Purposes, in which her marital status was listed as "Unmarried (include single, divorced, widow)". (Tr. Exh. 415).

Carol also represented herself as single with other financial institutions. On May 5, 2016, Carol submitted a Loan Application with J.P. Morgan Chase identifying her marital status as unmarried. (Tr. Exh. 49). On October 2, 2018—just

five (5) days prior to her death—Carol executed a Mortgage, identifying herself as both "unmarried" and "single." (Tr. Exh. 58).

While Carol intended to leave some funds to Doug upon her death, those documents serve as additional evidence that they were not married. In a November 28, 2014 change of beneficiary form, Carol listed Doug as her primary beneficiary on a life insurance policy, but identified him as a "Partner"—not as her "husband" or "spouse." (Tr. Exh. 43). Further, in a November 6, 2017 Individual Retirement Account Application, Carol again identified herself as single and, in the beneficiary designation, she identified Doug as her "Sig Other." (Tr. Exh. 421). While Carol signed the life insurance and IRA beneficiary designations, Doug filled out both documents in his handwriting.

Aside from the life insurance and IRA, Carol intended for all other assets to go to her sons. Carol prepared a Will (Tr. Exh. 30), which identifies her as a single woman, and a Revocable Trust (Tr. Exh. 401), leaving everything to her sons and nothing to Doug. Carol had amended her Revocable Trust Agreement 7 separate times, demonstrating Carol understood how to make changes. (Tr. Exh. 401). Carol could have provided for Doug in her estate plans but chose not to. Carol engaged an attorney on August 14, 2014 to review her estate plan, but did not make changes to provide for Doug. (Tr. Exhs. 248 and 249).

Carol's medical forms offer further support for how she identified her marital status. In a March 17, 2015 medical record, Carol listed herself as "currently single." (Tr. Exh. 423). In a December 5, 2016 medical record, Carol identified her marital status as single twice in the same record. Additionally, under her Emergency Contacts, Carol listed Doug but identified his relation as "Other Relation," and not as "husband" or "spouse." (Tr. Exh. 422). In an August 17, 2018 Patient Information Form filled out at skincare facility, just two months prior to her death, Carol again identified herself as single. (Tr. Exh. 424). Again, in a September 13, 2018 medical record—less than a month prior to her death—Carol listed her marital status as single. (Tr. Exh. 422, AJ000343).

Doug also held himself out as unmarried to his doctors, lawyers, a California court, and Carol's financial institutions. In a medical registration form filled out by Doug on September 26, 2018—just 11 days prior to Carol's death—Doug identified himself as unmarried. (Tr. Exh. 247). In the same form, Doug identified his marital status as "single" and also as "divorced". Although Carol was listed as his emergency contact, he listed her relationship to him as "Sig Other". *Id.* In 2015 and 2016, Doug was involved in litigation with his second wife relating to the marital property settlement. In the litigation, Doug's attorney and the Court, all referred to Carol as his "girlfriend"—not his wife. (Tr. Exh. 405 (AJ 25391, 25540-25541, and 25568) and Tr. Exh. 407 (AJ 25219, 25278, and 25279). As noted above, Doug filled

out several of Carol's financial documents that list her as "single" and/or "unmarried. (Tr. Exhs. 34, 43, 421).

In pursuing her passion for design and architecture, Carol purchased a lot adjacent to 118 Falling Star Road home and built her dream home at 200 Falling Star Road. The construction of the home at 200 Falling Star Road took place from approximately 2015-2017. (Tr. Trans. 4-23:2-12; 1-76:21-77:7). Carol titled the new house only in her name and paid the entire cost of construction with her separate assets. (Tr. Trans. 1-258:125; Tr. Exh. 58).

The people closest to Carol all testified she was never married to Doug. Carol shared a very close relationship with her sons, AJ and Jeff. (Tr. Trans. 2:158:22-159:12; 4-83:20-22). AJ and Jeff talked regularly with their mother and shared with each other their life events. (Tr. Trans. 2:158:22-159:12; 4-91:6-8). Carol never wanted to be married again after two extremely difficult divorces. Carol told her sons that there was no reason for her to ever remarry as she would always have them in her life. (Tr. Trans. 137:2-8). Neither Jeff nor AJ ever heard their mother refer to Doug as her husband. Likewise, neither Jeff nor AJ ever heard Doug refer to their mother as his wife. (Tr. Trans. 2-184:3-25; 4-135:23-136:18). Jeff testified that if his mother had agreed to marry Doug, she would have told him. (Tr. Trans. 2-184:3-25).

While Jeff occasionally referred to Doug as "Grandpa D", he explained that he often referred to friends as "aunt" or "uncle" for the sake of his young daughters.

(Tr. Trans. 2-178:16-24). Jeff's reference to "Grandpa D" was not because he considered Doug to be his daughter's grandfather, but because it was easier than trying to explain relationship dynamics to a child. (Tr. Exh. 66). In fact, while he claimed to love Jeff's children as his own grandchildren, Doug could not recall their names or their birthdays and acknowledged that he had not seen them since 2018. (Tr. Trans. 2-17:19-18:18).

Carol also confided in her closest friends, including Nikki Labauve. Carol told Ms. Labauve that she never wanted to be married again because she had gone through two difficult divorces, she was financially independent, and she had her sons in her life. (Tr. Trans. 3-137:24-138:5). Carol never described Doug as her husband and made clear that she was not married to Doug. (Tr. Trans. 3-158:6-21). Carol told Ms. Labauve that Doug mistreated her and took advantage of her financial resources. (Tr. Trans. 3-140:13-142:5).

Ms. Labauve described in detail a trip she took to Montana to visit Carol in August 2017. (Tr. Trans. 3-142:22-24). Ms. Labauve stayed with Carol and Doug at the 200 Falling Star Road home. (Tr. Trans. 3-145:14-21). Although the trip was meant to be an opportunity for Carol and Ms. Labauve to spend time together, Doug never left Carol alone with Ms. Labauve. (Tr. Trans. 3-145:22-146:12). Carol alerted Ms. Labauve it was not safe for her to email or text because Doug had access to her phone and her email and would read her messages. (Tr. Trans. 3-166:1-9). Ms.

Labauve observed that Carol seemed very unhappy, mentally broken, and scared for the entirety of her trip. (Tr. Trans. 3-148:9-19; 3-154:19-155:7).

During Ms. Labauve's trip, she only had two opportunities to talk with Carol outside of Doug's presence. (Tr. Trans. 3-148:2-149:23). On a night when Doug had fallen asleep, Carol explained how poorly Doug treated her and described the ongoing problems arising from his excessive drinking and spending. (Tr. Trans. 3-148:2-151:1). Carol told Ms. Labauve she had contacted an attorney to make certain Doug could not claim a common law marriage, if anything should happen to her. *Id.* Carol stated she feared how Doug would react if she ended the relationship. (Tr. Trans. 3-148:8-149:12). They discussed a plan for Carol to end the relationship. (Tr. Trans. 3-3-148:20-149:23. On the drive to the airport, Carol broke down and told Ms. Labauve that she was scared and felt all alone. (Tr. Trans. 3-154:17-155:7). From Ms. Labauve's perspective, Carol was desperate to end the relationship but lacked the mental strength and self-esteem to act. *Id.*

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