FILED

05/12/2025

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 24-0645

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA Supreme Court Cause No. DA 24-0645

IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF CAROL A. HUDSON, a/k/a CAROL ANN KELLER, Deceased.

ALAN LEE JOHNSON,

Appellant,

v.

DOUGLAS J. NAIL,

Appellee.

On appeal from the Montana Eighteenth Judicial District Court, Gallatin County Cause No. DP-19-10 & DV-412C The Honorable Judge John C. Brown, Presiding

APPELLEE'S RESPONSE BRIEF

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court found Doug and Carol entered into a common law marriage based on substantial, credible evidence in the record. Appellant improperly requests that this Court reweigh the evidence and substitute its judgment for the District Court in violation of the wellsettled law governing common law marriages and the standard of review.

//

``

- //
- //

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT DOUG AND CAROL ENTERED A COMMON LAW MARRIAGE.

A. PUBLIC POLICY FAVORS MARRIAGE AND THE PRESUMPTION IN FAVOR OF MATRIMONY IS STRONG.

There is a rebuttable presumption that a man and woman "deporting themselves as husband and wife have entered into a lawful contract of marriage." Section 26-1-602(30); In re Marriage of Swanner-*Renner*, 2009 MT 186, ¶ 16, 351 62, 209 P.3d 238; *Zugg*, ¶ 8. "Public policy favors the finding of a valid marriage and the presumption in favor of matrimony is one of the strongest known to the law." In re J.K.N.A., 2019 MT 286, ¶ 26, 398 Mont. 72, 454 P.3d 642; see also In re Estate of Murnion, 212 Mont. 107, 113, 686 P.2d 893, 897 (1984) ("the presumption in favor of matrimony is one of the strongest known to the law" and "every intendment of the law is in favor of matrimony"); In the Matter of Estate of Ober, 2003 MT 7, ¶ 16, 314 Mont. 20, 62 P.3d 1114 ("public policy as well as statutory law, favors the finding of a valid marriage").

"Not only does public policy favor a finding of matrimony, Montana's marital code 'shall be liberally construed and applied to promote its underlying purposes, which are to: ...(2) strengthen and preserve the integrity of marriage and safeguard family relationships."" *In re J.K.N.A.*, ¶ 26 (quoting § 40-1-101, MCA).

Common law marriage "is an equitable doctrine used to ensure people are treated fairly once a relationship ends." *In re J.K.N.A.*, ¶ 26 (quoting *Snetsinger v. Mont. Univ. System*, 2004 MT 390, ¶ 32, 325 Mont. 148, 104 P.3d 445 (explaining that the concept is 'designed, in part, to prevent unjust economic harm to couples to have held themselves out as [spouses]")).

B. THE ELEMENTS OF COMMON LAW MARRIAGE.

The party asserting the existence of a common law marriage has the burden of proving three elements: (1) that the parties were competent to enter into a marriage; (2) that the parties assumed a marital relationship; and (3) that the parties confirmed their marriage by cohabitation and public repute. *In re Matter of Estate of Hunsaker*, 1998 MT 279, ¶ 32, 291 Mont. 412, 968 P.2d 281.

"The moving party does not have the burden of proving that the above elements 'all happened immediately or instantly,' but rather they can arise over the course of the relationship." *In re J.K.N.A.*, ¶ 25,

(citing In re Marriage of Swanner-Renner, 2009 MT 186, ¶ 21, 351

Mont. 62, 209 P.3d 238). Regarding competency, a party may not enter a marriage before the dissolution of a prior marriage. Section 40-1-401(1)(a), MCA. However, "[p]arties to a marriage prohibited under this section who cohabit after removal of the impediment are lawfully married as of the date of the removal of the impediment." Section 40-1-401(2), MCA; *see also In re Matter Estate of Alcorn*, 263 Mont. 353, 357, 868 P.2d 629, 631 (1994).

The District Court found Doug and Carol were competent to marry after Doug's divorce became final on May 17, 2010. *See Order*, COL, ¶ 6. Appellant does not appeal that finding or dispute that Doug and Carol lived together in an exclusive, committed relationship. Appellant contests the District Court's factual findings regarding mutual consent and public repute.

C. DOUG AND CAROL MUTUALLY CONSENTED TO MARRIAGE.

"The mutual consent of the parties does not need to be expressed in any particular form." *Hunsaker*, ¶ 34. "Mutual consent can be implied from the conduct of the parties." *Id.* As explained by this Court, mutual consent "must always be given with such an intent on the part

of each of the parties that marriage cannot be said to steal upon them unawares." *Id.* (citing *State v. Newman*, 66 Mont. 180, 188, 213 P. 805, 807).

This Court's decisions in *Alcorn, Hunsaker*, and *Ober* provide guidance. In *Alcorn*, a ring, a concrete walkway, and the testimony of the surviving spouse were sufficient to uphold a finding of mutual consent. *Id.*, 263 Mont. at 357, 868 P.2d at 357. In *Hunsaker*, the Court reversed the district court and found mutual consent based on a grandfather clock, an engagement ring, and testimony of the surviving spouse that the couple "felt" married to each other. *Id.* at ¶¶ 36, 37. In *Ober*, address labels and a wallet photograph, when combined with the testimony of the surviving spouse, were sufficient to establish mutual intent. *Id.* at ¶ 16.

The evidence was sufficient to demonstrate mutual intent even in the fact of contrary evidence. For example, in *Ober* the party opposing the common law marriage of John and Selma introduced the following evidence at trial:

(1) Selma did not assume John's last name; (2) John and Selma maintained separate property and bank accounts; (3) John and Selma filed their taxes as "single" taxpayers; (4) John and Slema filed documents with the Farm Service agency as "single" persons; (5) John did not designate Selma as the beneficiary on his life insurance policy; (6) John did not report Selma as his spouse to his employer; (7) John granted his brother Benno Ober power of attorney in three separate documents; (8) John continued to pay rent on an apartment in Conrad, Montana, after he moved into Selma's home near Power, Montana; and (9) Selma continued to receive her widow's survivor benefit from the Social Security Administration under the name of her deceased husband. Frank Klein. Appellants further maintain that no evidence exists to prove that Selma called John her husband or that John called Selma his wife.

Ober, ¶ 11.

1. There is substantial evidence of mutual consent.

Doug presented substantial, direct evidence that he and Carol mutually consent to a common law marriage, including Doug's testimony that he and Carol agreed they had a common law marriage, Shelley Patton's testimony that Carol stated she had a common law marriage with Doug, the air ambulance form created by Carol which referred to Doug as "common law husband," Shepard Casey's testimony that Doug informed him he and Carol had a common law marriage, the magazine article which refers to Doug as the husband, evidence that Doug and Carol referred to each other or were introduced as husband and wife, and that Carol wore bracelets and, on occasion, a ring as a symbol of their marriage. Doug also introduced substantial evidence that implies mutual consent, including that Doug and Carol lived together, shared finances, entered contracts together, built a house together, and the testimony of several friends who testified that Doug and Carol acted like a married couple and were considered husband and wife, among other things.

This case is not a close call. Substantial evidence supports the District Court's findings of common law marriage, and it should be affirmed.

2. Appellant ignores relevant law.

Appellant contends the District Court erred because it did not accept his version of the facts. He contends the "objective evidence," and "objective indicia" established that Carol was single because she did not have a wedding ceremony, listed herself single on her taxes and other documents, and she was allegedly concerned that she had a common law marriage to Doug. Appellant's Br. 23-32.

First, Appellant ignores this Court's standard of review. A district court's findings are reviewed "to determine whether substantial evidence supports those findings, not contrary findings." *Wareing v. Schreckendgust*, 280 Mont. 196, 210, 930 P.2d 37 (1996). Appellant's argument amounts to nothing more than an improper request for this Court to reweigh the evidence and substitute its judgment for the District Court.

Second, Appellant does not mention, let alone address, Montana public policy which favors marriage and the strong statutory presumption in favor of matrimony. *In re J.K.N.A.*, ¶ 26.

Third, Appellant does not give this Court's guiding decisions on common law marriage appropriate consideration. He repeatedly emphasizes the documents where Carol listed herself as single, for example, even though this Court's decisions in *Alcorn, Hunsaker*, and *Ober* all involved similar fact patterns, and the Court found the existence of a common law marriage in every case.

3. Credibility of witnesses is important.

At trial, Appellant presented testimony from: (1) Carol's hairdresser in California (Bobbi Schoeder); (2) the woman who did her Botox injections in California (Monique LaBauve); (3) a Russian billionaire whose son was Appellant's fraternity brother at USC (Igor Olenicoff); (4) the husband and daughter of a friend from their early years in Bozeman (Jeff Wetmore and Maggie Stein); and (5) Jeff Johnson.

The District Court was in the best position to weigh the credibility of those witnesses. For example, while testifying by zoom Mr. Olenicoff represented he was Carol's close friend – yet he did not know where she lived in Montana, did not know Doug's full name and had never met Doug. Tr. Trans. 4-70:25 to 71:3 &4-76:18-22. Remarkably, Mr. Olenicoff was a central figure in the infamous UBS banking scandal and paid a \$77 million fine to the IRS. Tr. Trans. 4-72:19 to 73:25.

Similarly, Ms. Schoeder and Mr. Wetmore both testified that they did not discuss marriage with Carol. Tr. Trans. 3-127:25 to 128:15 & 3-205:14-17. Ms. LaBauve presented fanciful testimony that she suspected Doug of foul play in Carol's death. Maggie Stein did not know Carol very well (Tr. Trans. 186:4-8) and, if anything, her testimony about a conversation with Carol regarding common law marriage, years before Carol's death, actually supports Doug's case.

Jeff Johnson's testimony deserves special attention. Jeff initially supported Doug's claim of common law marriage but changed his story after Appellant sued him in California. Even then, the best testimony Jeff could muster at trial to support Appellant was that he never asked Carol about her relationship with Doug at any point while they were living in Montana. Tr. Trans. 2-193. Jeff also acknowledged that Carol told him she wanted to set up a life estate or living trust for Doug. *Id.* at 196:23-197:5. According to Jeff, he cut her off and said he didn't want to hear about it. *Id*.

In contrast, Doug presented the testimony of their actual close friends in Montana – the individuals with whom they spent Thanksgiving and Christmas, longtime friends, and neighbors. Doug also presented the testimony of Shelley Patten, a family law attorney who was Carol's close friend and confidant, who testified:

Well, I wasn't happy at all about the fact that Carol felt that she didn't need to get married. Like, go down to the clerk of court's office and get married because she believed that their common-law marriage in Montana was enough. And I apologize for my tone of voice because you are resurrecting a conversation that really irritated me.

And I said, I was very clear with her. California doesn't recognize common law and it's a dangerous situation to do that, and the law could change in Montana, and you shouldn't do that, and I wanted her to get married and I wanted her to have a complete will drafted that said everything that she wanted to say in it and Carol just never got around to it.

She just really didn't think it was necessary and she said, we are married. We're soulmates. He's the love of my life.

We have a great relationship. I don't need to do this. And I said, you do need to do this and, you know, I was just very forceful about it, but I come from a state that doesn't recognize common law, and as a family law attorney, I've seen the parade of horribles.

Tr. Trans. 2-64:2-24.

The District Court "was in the best position to judge the credibility of the witnesses" and it's finding that should be affirmed. *Alcorn*, 263 Mont. at 633, 868 P.2d at 633. The District Court believed Shelley because she told the truth. Doug and Carol loved each other and had a common law marriage. And they should have been wise enough to get formally married to avoid the parade of horribles that this matter has become.

D. DOUG AND CAROL CONFIRMED THEIR MARRIAGE BY COHABITATION AND PUBLIC REPUTE.

With respect to cohabitation and public repute, this Court "consider[s] how the public views the couple." *Hunsaker*, ¶ 38. "Relevant to this inquiry is whether the couple held themselves out to the community as husband and wife." *Id.* at ¶ 38. (*citing Alcorn*, 263 Mont. at 358-359, 868 P.2d at 632). "A common law-marriage does not exist if the parties have kept it a secret." *Id.* Further, although "allowing people to assume a marital relationship is not, by itself, enough evidence to create a common-law marriage, it is evidence that the parties held themselves out to the community as married." *Hunsaker*, \P 42.

In *Alcorn*, the Montana Supreme Court noted that: the wife: 1) never changed her last name; 2) did not list her husband as a beneficiary on her employee life insurance, health insurance or retirement forms; 3) filed her tax returns as single; and 4) her husband stated in his will that he was a single during his relationship with the wife. *Alcorn*, 263 Mont. at 358, 868 P.2d at 631-32.

This Court found the couple was married, however, because they spent all their free time together, the wife wore the wedding ring, they regularly hosted people at the house, the wife cared for the husband during an extensive illness, several witnesses testified they considered the couple married, and they held themselves out as a married couple to those witnesses. *Alcorn*, 263 Mont. at 358-359, 868 P.2d at 632; *see also Hunsaker*, ¶¶ 41-42; *In re Estate of Murnion*, 212 Mont. 107, 129, 686 P.2d 893, 905 (1984).

 \parallel

//

1. There is substantial evidence of public repute.

Doug and Carol lived together the entire time they lived in Montana. They built a house together, which was featured in a magazine article that referred to Doug as "the husband" and gave a copy of the article to all their friends and family. Ex. 208.

Once again, the question of whether substantial evidence supports the District Court's finding is not a call. They held themselves out as a married couple. Kaitlyn called Carol her stepmom, Jeff's family called Doug "Grandpa D" and Doug and Carol referred to each other as husband and wife. The friends they spent time within Montana thought they were married.

Appellant cites *Miller v. Sutherland*, 131 Mont. 175, 309 P.2d 322 (1957) as though that case supports his position. That case involved a May-December relationship where they lived apart most of the time. *Id.* at 131 Mont. at 178. They spent summers together on a ranch and respondent, after the "fall work was completed, would go to a community in the vicinity of where appellant was teaching and secure a tourist cabin, motel, or other living quarters and appellant would visit him over the weekends." *Id.* They did not visit much with other people

and "appellant represented the respondent as her father." *Id.* "Nothing appears in the record to show repute in the community or neighborhood that they were married, it does not even appear to be reputed in the very household in which they were then residing. *Id.* at 184. In stark contrast, Doug and Carol did not keep their relation a secret, lived together their entire marriage, and held themselves out to the public as a married couple.

Moreover, the district court in Miller found that there was no marriage and this Court was unwilling to substitute its judgment for the judgment of the district court. Appellant asks this Court to do the opposite. As with his argument regarding mutual consent, Appellant ignores the standard of review, Montana public policy, and this Court's more recent, governing decisions regarding common law marriages.

The District Court correctly found Doug and Carol confirmed their relationship through public repute and its decision should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

The Court should affirm the District Court's finding of common law marriage.